
May 18, 2022
Via Zoom Meeting and Livestreamed on YouTube

Regular Meeting

Roll Call

Accept Agenda

Public Comment

Approval of Previous Meeting Minutes (April 20, 2022)

Bills and Communications
     North Country Chamber Memo Re: Bill #S8395/A10069

Committee Reports
Anti-Harassment  Audit & Finance  Downtown Revitalization/Tourism
Economic Development Entrepreneurship/Agriculture Governance

Treasurer’s Report

Old and Unfinished Business
     ABO IDA Clean Energy Projects Report

New Business
    Resolution #2022-06 Execute Memorandum of Agreement with Lake Champlain-Lake
     George Regional Planning Board

Date of Next Meeting: June 8, 2022

Adjournment



COUNTY OF FRANKLIN INDUSTRIAL DEVELOPMENT AGENCY 
BOARD OF DIRECTORS MEETINGS 

 
WEDNESDAY, APRIL 20, 2022 

Via Zoom Meeting and Livestreamed on YouTube 
 
 

REGULAR MEETING 
 
 
Chair Ellis called the Regular Meeting of the IDA to order at 1:03 pm. Maria conducted roll call 
with the following people present:   
  

Sherry Boyea 
James Ellis  
Stephen Erman  
Madelyn Fleury 
Justus Martin 
Archie McKee 
*Vacant Board Seat (1) 

 Jeremy Evans, CEO 
Maria Bourgeois, Operations Manager 
Rachel Child, Community Development Specialist 
Russ Kinyon, Economic Development Director 

  
Mr. Ellis welcomed everyone to the meeting.  
 
Accept Agenda: Agenda was accepted. 
 
Public Comment Period:  None 
 
Approval of Previous Meeting Minutes: 

• The IDA board approved the Regular meeting minutes of March 23, 2022, on a motion by 
Mr. Erman, seconded by Ms. Boyea.  All in favor. 

  
Bills and Communications:  None. 
 
Committee Reports:  Mr. Ellis asked that all committees be listed on agendas going forward.  
 
Treasurer’s Report:  Jeremy reviewed the March 2022 financials with the board, noting that we 
now have the budget vs actual report included. 

• Motion to accept the March 2022 financial reports by Mr. McKee, seconded by Ms. Boyea.  
All in favor. 

 
Old & Unfinished Business:  None. 
 
 
 
 



 New Business:  
Resolution #2022-05 Adopt Credit Card Policy:  Jeremy explained that based on changes 
recommended by the Board minor changes had been made to the Credit Card Policy and it was 
being presented for approval based on those changes. After discussion, the board asked to add car 
rental and related expenses under paragraph 4 – Business Travel. 

• Motion to adopt Resolution #2022-05 adopting the Credit Card Policy as amended made 
by Mr. Erman, seconded by Mr. McKee. Following a roll call vote, all were in favor.  

 
Adjournment:  After stating that the next regular meeting of the IDA is scheduled to be held on 
Wednesday, May 18, 2022, at 1 pm via Zoom meeting and with no other business to conduct, Mr. 
Ellis adjourned the meeting at 1:18 pm on a motion by Mr. Martin, seconded by Ms. Boyea. 



 
   

 
 
TO:   New York State Senate and New York State Assembly Leadership  
FROM:     NORTH COUNTRY CHAMBER OF COMMERCE 
RE:       Opposition S8395/A10069 
 
The North Country Chamber of Commerce strongly opposes S8395/A10069. This bill as written would prevent 
Industrial Development Agencies (IDAs) from offering a PILOT on school taxes. It would lead to IDAs losing projects and 
ultimately less jobs, less economic activity, and less revenue generated for not only school districts but local 
municipalities. 
 
IDA incentives/assistance comes in the form of a tax abatement and payment in lieu of taxes (PILOT) on local property 
taxes and school taxes. This is the primary benefit and assistance offered by an IDA to attract private investment, job 
creation, downtown revitalization, and clean energy projects to their community. The school tax portion of a PILOT 
accounts for anywhere from 60-70% of that total amount of assistance provided by an IDA. By prohibiting the IDA from 
offering this valuable incentive, which is what this bill would do, IDAs would lose projects as would the communities 
they serve.  
 
This bill claims it would provide additional revenue to school districts. This would only be true if we made the 
assumption that every project an IDA supports would happen anyways without the incentive, which we know is not the 
case. This bill would actually mean LESS revenue to school districts. Those new projects invariably pay significantly more 
real estate taxes than the previous use of the property. As a result, the tax burden placed on each resident and/or 
business within that taxing district decreases. According to a 2021 report from the Office of State Comptroller (OSC), 
IDAs helped generate $680 Million in NEW tax revenue in ONE year to local taxing jurisdictions including school districts. 
 
 
New York currently spends significantly more per student than any other state according to recent reporting and 
analysis; nearly $26,000 per student and a total of $78 Billion on education in 2021. The amount of revenue a school 
district foregoes from IDA projects amounts to less than .5% of our annual spending on education. This funding is offset 
by PILOT revenue. IDAs actually INCREASE revenue to school districts by creating new tax revenue moving forward on 
a project site location that didn’t previously exist. 
 
The sponsor memo for this bill states the value of IDAs is unknown. Fortunately, we know that is not the case. In 
addition to PILOT revenue generated, IDAs have a broad economic impact according to data from the OSC REPORT and 
data from a study conducted by Camoin Associates in 2021.  

• 4320 active projects 
• $109 Billion in project activity 
• DIRECTLY led to a net gain of 199,982 jobs from 2018 to 2019 
• Those net gain in jobs created at least $7.9 Billion in new salaries in 2019 
• Those new jobs created at least $399 Million in new income tax generated 
• $680 Million in new tax payments to local communities/school districts via PILOTs 
• 492,372 jobs created/retained once these projects are complete 
• Those jobs represent $20.5 Billion in ANNUAL salaries  
• $1.2 Billion in new Annual Income Tax Revenue 
• Indirectly, those projects have led to $436 Billion in annual economic activity 
• At least 70 clean energy projects in 2019 

https://nyassembly.gov/leg/?default_fld=&leg_video=&bn=S08395&term=2021&Summary=Y&Actions=Y&Text=Y
https://nyassembly.gov/leg/?default_fld=&leg_video=&bn=S08395&term=2021&Summary=Y&Actions=Y&Text=Y
https://educationdata.org/public-education-spending-statistics
https://educationdata.org/public-education-spending-statistics
https://www.osc.state.ny.us/files/local-government/publications/pdf/ida-performance-2021-annual-report.pdf
http://www.nysedc.org/docs/NYSEDC_IDA_Impact_Analysis_FINAL.pdf


 
 

• 870 megawatts of new clean energy (enough to power 500,000 homes) 
• issued 1451 smally business loans or grants during the pandemic 
• At least 3000 new housing starts across the state. 

  
The North Country Chamber of Commerce believes funding for education is critically important. We know that 
S8395/A10069 bill will actually have the opposite effect of generating additional revenue for school districts. Instead, we 
would propose the Legislature pass  A7091/S8480, sponsored by Senator Jeremy Cooney and Assemblyman John 
McDonald.  This bill allows PILOTs to be included in the 2% tax cap formula, something our organization and school 
boards agree upon. This bill actually passed both houses in 2017 with overwhelming bipartisan support. It was 
unfortunately vetoed because the tax cap had not been made permanent (it now is), something the legislature has 
remedied, and we fully support. This bill would give school districts along with municipalities the necessary flexibility to 
account for growth brought about from an IDA project.  
 
It for these reasons we must oppose S8395/A10069. We thank you for your time and consideration.  
 
 
Sincerely,  
 
Garry Douglas 
President and CEO 
North Country Chamber of Commerce 
www.northcountrychamber.com 

https://nyassembly.gov/leg/?default_fld=&leg_video=&bn=S08395&term=0&Summary=Y&Text=Y
https://nyassembly.gov/leg/?default_fld=&leg_video=&bn=A07091&term=2021&Summary=Y&Text=Y
https://nyassembly.gov/leg/?default_fld=&leg_video=&bn=S08395&term=2021&Summary=Y&Actions=Y&Text=Y


Apr 30, 22 Mar 31, 22 Apr 30, 21

ASSETS
Current Assets

Checking/Savings
Community Bank Checking 776,481.96 802,767.65 929,235.00

Total Checking/Savings 776,481.96 802,767.65 929,235.00

Accounts Receivable
1200 · Accounts Receivable 0.00 2,000.00 0.00

Total Accounts Receivable 0.00 2,000.00 0.00

Other Current Assets
1220.00 · Prepaid Insurance 24,973.46 24,973.46 21,271.34

Total Other Current Assets 24,973.46 24,973.46 21,271.34

Total Current Assets 801,455.42 829,741.11 950,506.34

Fixed Assets
Land 154,794.26 154,794.26 154,794.26
1301.00 · Buildings 1,285,948.16 1,285,948.16 1,285,948.16
1302.00 · Equipment 40,737.92 40,737.92 40,737.92
1320.00 · Accumulated Depreciation -603,635.45 -603,635.45 -603,635.45

Total Fixed Assets 877,844.89 877,844.89 877,844.89

Other Assets
1500.00 · Deferred Outflows - ERS 47,366.00 47,366.00 47,366.00

Total Other Assets 47,366.00 47,366.00 47,366.00

TOTAL ASSETS 1,726,666.31 1,754,952.00 1,875,717.23

LIABILITIES & EQUITY
Liabilities

Current Liabilities
Accounts Payable

2000 · Accounts Payable 0.00 690.38 5,559.12

Total Accounts Payable 0.00 690.38 5,559.12

Credit Cards
First BankCard 0.00 31.08 0.00

Total Credit Cards 0.00 31.08 0.00

Other Current Liabilities
Retirement (414H) -17,873.00 -17,287.00 -10,255.00
2002.00 · Accrued Payroll 2,898.49 2,898.49 2,898.49
2005.00 · Compensated Absences 3,059.85 3,059.85 3,059.85
2010.00 · Employer Taxes -755.37 -755.37 -755.37
2052.00 · Pension Liability 5,968.00 5,968.00 5,968.00

Total Other Current Liabilities -6,702.03 -6,116.03 915.97

Total Current Liabilities -6,702.03 -5,394.57 6,475.09

Long Term Liabilities
2053.00 · Deferred Inflow - ERS 26,157.00 26,157.00 26,157.00

Total Long Term Liabilities 26,157.00 26,157.00 26,157.00

Total Liabilities 19,454.97 20,762.43 32,632.09

Equity
3000.00 · Retained Earnings 1,820,252.08 1,820,252.08 1,781,783.89
Net Income -113,040.74 -86,062.51 61,301.25

Total Equity 1,707,211.34 1,734,189.57 1,843,085.14

1:27 PM County of Franklin Industrial Development Agency
05/03/22 Balance Sheet Prev Year Comparison
Accrual Basis As of April 30, 2022

Page 1



Apr 30, 22 Mar 31, 22 Apr 30, 21

TOTAL LIABILITIES & EQUITY 1,726,666.31 1,754,952.00 1,875,717.23

1:27 PM County of Franklin Industrial Development Agency
05/03/22 Balance Sheet Prev Year Comparison
Accrual Basis As of April 30, 2022

Page 2



Apr 22 Mar 22 Apr 21 Jan - Apr 22

Ordinary Income/Expense
Income

4000 · REVENUE & FINANCIAL SOURCES
4100 · OPERATING REVENUES

4110 · Charges for Services
4112 · Agency Fees (Bond & PILOT) 0.00 2,000.00 0.00 2,000.00

Total 4110 · Charges for Services 0.00 2,000.00 0.00 2,000.00

Total 4100 · OPERATING REVENUES 0.00 2,000.00 0.00 2,000.00

4200 · NON-OPERATING REVENUES
4210 · Investment Earnings 13.12 13.83 23.63 54.86

Total 4200 · NON-OPERATING REVENUES 13.12 13.83 23.63 54.86

Total 4000 · REVENUE & FINANCIAL SOURCES 13.12 2,013.83 23.63 2,054.86

Total Income 13.12 2,013.83 23.63 2,054.86

Gross Profit 13.12 2,013.83 23.63 2,054.86

Expense
5000 · EXPENDITURES

5100 · OPERATING EXPENDITURES
5110 · Salaries and Wages

5111 · CEO 6,802.62 6,802.62 6,669.24 27,210.48
5112 · Operations Manager 4,846.18 3,923.08 3,923.08 16,615.42

Total 5110 · Salaries and Wages 11,648.80 10,725.70 10,592.32 43,825.90

5120 · Other Employee Benefits
5121 · Disability Insurance -64.32 -59.60 -58.92 -243.12
5122 · Health Insurance 3,521.26 3,521.26 3,233.45 14,085.04
5123 · Dental Insurance 176.78 176.78 170.73 707.12
5124 · NYS Retirement System -586.00 -586.00 -586.00 -2,344.00
5125 · Payroll Taxes 867.20 874.12 1,137.99 3,741.57
5127 · Workers' Compensation 0.00 0.00 -57.00 0.00

Total 5120 · Other Employee Benefits 3,914.92 3,926.56 3,840.25 15,946.61

5130 · Professional Services Contracts
5131 · Auditing Services 0.00 0.00 4,200.00 0.00
5132 · Legal Services 3,051.00 0.00 600.00 3,801.00
5133 · Payroll Services 248.76 313.12 312.60 1,314.12
5134 · Other Consulting Services 0.00 0.00 0.00 688.75

5130 · Professional Services Contracts - Other 0.00 0.00 0.00 1,138.75

Total 5130 · Professional Services Contracts 3,299.76 313.12 5,112.60 6,942.62

5140 · Supplies & Materials
5141 · Association Dues 0.00 0.00 0.00 1,791.00
5142 · Business Insurances 0.00 0.00 0.00 149.00

5143 · Conferences, Travel & Training 0.00 0.00 14.56 450.00
5144 · General Office Supplies 0.00 367.52 43.45 760.50
5145 · Internet & Phone 406.12 603.49 455.37 1,945.00
5146 · Marketing & Promotion 0.00 55.44 1,118.00 55.44

5148 · Service Contracts/Subscriptions 190.00 280.00 350.14 1,110.15

5149 · Postage 0.00 57.64 0.00 57.64
5140 · Supplies & Materials - Other 31.75 31.08 0.00 62.83

Total 5140 · Supplies & Materials 627.87 1,395.17 1,981.52 6,381.56

Total 5100 · OPERATING EXPENDITURES 19,491.35 16,360.55 21,526.69 73,096.69

5200 · NON-OPERATING EXPENDITURES
5260 · Other Non-Operating Expenditure

1:28 PM County of Franklin Industrial Development Agency
05/03/22 Profit & Loss Prev Year Comparison
Accrual Basis April 2022

Page 1



Apr 22 Mar 22 Apr 21 Jan - Apr 22

5262 · Bombay Factory 0.00 209.78 180.98 655.10

5264 · Chateaugay Business Park 0.00 0.00 0.00 500.00
5266 · Miscellaneous Expenditures 7,500.00 0.00 0.00 19,236.90

Total 5260 · Other Non-Operating Expenditure 7,500.00 209.78 180.98 20,392.00

5200 · NON-OPERATING EXPENDITURES - Other 0.00 0.00 34,592.64 21,606.91

Total 5200 · NON-OPERATING EXPENDITURES 7,500.00 209.78 34,773.62 41,998.91

Total 5000 · EXPENDITURES 26,991.35 16,570.33 56,300.31 115,095.60

Total Expense 26,991.35 16,570.33 56,300.31 115,095.60

Net Ordinary Income -26,978.23 -14,556.50 -56,276.68 -113,040.74

Net Income -26,978.23 -14,556.50 -56,276.68 -113,040.74

1:28 PM County of Franklin Industrial Development Agency
05/03/22 Profit & Loss Prev Year Comparison
Accrual Basis April 2022

Page 2



Jan - Dec 22 Budget $ Over Bu... % of Bu...

Ordinary Income/Expense
Income

4000 · REVENUE & FINANCIAL SOURCES
4100 · OPERATING REVENUES

4110 · Charges for Services
4112 · Agency Fees (Bond & PILOT) 2,000.00

4110 · Charges for Services - Other 0.00 85,000.00 -85,000.00 0.0%

Total 4110 · Charges for Services 2,000.00 85,000.00 -83,000.00 2.4%

4120 · Rental Income
4121 · Chateaugay Business Park 0.00 2,700.00 -2,700.00 0.0%

Total 4120 · Rental Income 0.00 2,700.00 -2,700.00 0.0%

Total 4100 · OPERATING REVENUES 2,000.00 87,700.00 -85,700.00 2.3%

4200 · NON-OPERATING REVENUES
4210 · Investment Earnings 54.86 250.00 -195.14 21.9%
4250 · Public Authority Subsidies 0.00 50,000.00 -50,000.00 0.0%

Total 4200 · NON-OPERATING REVENUES 54.86 50,250.00 -50,195.14 0.1%

Total 4000 · REVENUE & FINANCIAL SOURCES 2,054.86 137,950.00 -135,895.14 1.5%

Total Income 2,054.86 137,950.00 -135,895.14 1.5%

Gross Profit 2,054.86 137,950.00 -135,895.14 1.5%

Expense
5000 · EXPENDITURES

5100 · OPERATING EXPENDITURES
5110 · Salaries and Wages

5111 · CEO 27,210.48 88,434.00 -61,223.52 30.8%
5112 · Operations Manager 16,615.42 51,000.00 -34,384.58 32.6%
5113 · Contingency 0.00 3,566.00 -3,566.00 0.0%

Total 5110 · Salaries and Wages 43,825.90 143,000.00 -99,174.10 30.6%

5120 · Other Employee Benefits
5121 · Disability Insurance -243.12 1,050.00 -1,293.12 -23.2%
5122 · Health Insurance 14,085.04 56,550.00 -42,464.96 24.9%
5123 · Dental Insurance 707.12 2,499.96 -1,792.84 28.3%
5124 · NYS Retirement System -2,344.00 16,800.00 -19,144.00 -14.0%
5125 · Payroll Taxes 3,741.57 8,000.00 -4,258.43 46.8%
5126 · Unemployment Insurance 0.00 2,500.00 -2,500.00 0.0%
5127 · Workers' Compensation 0.00 900.00 -900.00 0.0%

Total 5120 · Other Employee Benefits 15,946.61 88,299.96 -72,353.35 18.1%

5130 · Professional Services Contracts
5131 · Auditing Services 0.00 5,000.00 -5,000.00 0.0%
5132 · Legal Services 3,801.00 10,000.00 -6,199.00 38.0%
5133 · Payroll Services 1,314.12 2,400.00 -1,085.88 54.8%
5134 · Other Consulting Services 688.75 10,000.00 -9,311.25 6.9%

5130 · Professional Services Contracts - Other 1,138.75

Total 5130 · Professional Services Contracts 6,942.62 27,400.00 -20,457.38 25.3%

5140 · Supplies & Materials
5141 · Association Dues 1,591.00 4,000.00 -2,409.00 39.8%
5142 · Business Insurances 149.00 19,500.00 -19,351.00 0.8%

5143 · Conferences, Travel & Training 450.00 8,000.00 -7,550.00 5.6%
5144 · General Office Supplies 760.50 4,000.00 -3,239.50 19.0%
5145 · Internet & Phone 1,945.00 5,799.96 -3,854.96 33.5%
5146 · Marketing & Promotion 55.44 10,000.00 -9,944.56 0.6%

5147 · Office Rent 0.00 2,400.00 -2,400.00 0.0%

1:26 PM County of Franklin Industrial Development Agency
05/03/22 Profit & Loss Budget vs. Actual
Accrual Basis January through December 2022

Page 1



Jan - Dec 22 Budget $ Over Bu... % of Bu...

5148 · Service Contracts/Subscriptions 1,110.15 8,000.00 -6,889.85 13.9%

5149 · Postage 57.64
5140 · Supplies & Materials - Other 62.83

Total 5140 · Supplies & Materials 6,181.56 61,699.96 -55,518.40 10.0%

5170 · Other Operating Expenditures
5171 · Depreciation 0.00 30,000.00 -30,000.00 0.0%

Total 5170 · Other Operating Expenditures 0.00 30,000.00 -30,000.00 0.0%

Total 5100 · OPERATING EXPENDITURES 72,896.69 350,399.92 -277,503.23 20.8%

5200 · NON-OPERATING EXPENDITURES
5260 · Other Non-Operating Expenditure

5261 · Bldg Maintenance Contingency 0.00 13,700.00 -13,700.00 0.0%
5262 · Bombay Factory 655.10 21,249.96 -20,594.86 3.1%

5263 · Bombay Warehouse 0.00 14,550.00 -14,550.00 0.0%
5264 · Chateaugay Business Park 500.00 2,000.00 -1,500.00 25.0%
5265 · Tupper Lake Business Park 0.00 1,500.00 -1,500.00 0.0%
5266 · Miscellaneous Expenditures 19,236.90 999.96 18,236.94 1,923.8%

Total 5260 · Other Non-Operating Expenditure 20,392.00 53,999.92 -33,607.92 37.8%

5200 · NON-OPERATING EXPENDITURES - Other 21,606.91

Total 5200 · NON-OPERATING EXPENDITURES 41,998.91 53,999.92 -12,001.01 77.8%

Total 5000 · EXPENDITURES 114,895.60 404,399.84 -289,504.24 28.4%

Total Expense 114,895.60 404,399.84 -289,504.24 28.4%

Net Ordinary Income -112,840.74 -266,449.84 153,609.10 42.3%

Net Income -112,840.74 -266,449.84 153,609.10 42.3%

1:26 PM County of Franklin Industrial Development Agency
05/03/22 Profit & Loss Budget vs. Actual
Accrual Basis January through December 2022

Page 2



 

  

 
 
 
 
 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 
IDA Clean Energy Projects 

 
 

May 11, 2022 
 
 

OR-2021-01 
 

 

 

       ● Accountability  

     ● Transparency 

       ● Integrity 

Authorities 

Budget 

Office  



 

  

Table of Contents 
 
 
Topics              Page Number 
 
Executive Summary           ES 
 
Introduction and Background            1 
 
Purpose               2 
 
Scope and Methodology              2 
  
Review Results              4 
 

Project Purpose               4 
 
Project Benefits               4 

 
Project Financial Assistance            6 
 
Section 487 of Real Property Tax Law         10 
 
Project Applications Not Including Exemption Amounts       11 
      
Project Agreements Not Executed or Completed        11 
 
Project Documents Not Posted on IDA Websites        12     

 
Conclusions and Recommendations          13 
 
Appendix A –  Project Summaries          A-1 
 
 
 
   



 

  
   ES-1 

Executive Summary  
 
 
Purpose and  

Authority: The Authorities Budget Office (ABO) is authorized by Title 2 
of Public Authorities Law to review and analyze the 
operations, practices, and reports of public authorities. We 
reviewed 11 clean energy projects (10 solar and one wind) 
reported as active in the Public Authorities Reporting 
Information System (PARIS) in 2020. The 11 projects were 
approved by 11 different Industrial Development Agencies 
(IDAs) between 2016 and 2020. Our review was performed 
from August to November 2021 and was conducted in 
accordance with our statutory authority and compliance 
review protocols. The purpose of this review was to identify 
the types and amounts of financial assistance provided by 
IDAs to the clean energy projects, and any respective benefits 
provided by the projects. In addition, the review determined if 
project documents were publicly available on IDA websites. 

 
Background  

Information: The State of New York’s clean energy standard goal is that 70 
percent of its electricity will come from renewable energy 
sources, such as solar and wind, by 2030. To accomplish this 
goal, the State has created real property tax incentives to 
encourage the development of solar and wind energy 
systems. Section 487 of Real Property Tax Law (RPTL 487) 
provides real property tax exemptions on the increase in 
property value due to the inclusion of solar and wind energy 
systems for a maximum of 15 years. Local taxing jurisdictions 
(counties, cities, towns, villages, or school districts) can 
negotiate payments in lieu of taxes (PILOTs) for the 15-year 
period or they can opt out of the property tax exemptions for 
solar and wind energy systems. 

 
General Municipal Law (GML) Article 18-A authorizes IDAs to 
encourage economic growth and promote job opportunities 
and economic welfare for the people of the State of New York. 
IDAs can offer financial assistance to clean energy projects in 
the form of exemption from sales and use tax (sales tax), 
mortgage recording tax, and real property tax. IDAs also 
negotiate PILOTs to recapture lost tax revenues from the 
exemptions provided for the taxing jurisdictions. For clean 
energy projects IDAs are not held to the 15-year time period 
as RPTL 487 allows. 
 
IDAs are required to annually report financial assistance and 
other information for all active projects in PARIS. For the 2020 



 

  
   ES-2 

reporting period, 26 IDAs reported 98 active projects in PARIS 
that involved the installation of solar and wind energy systems 
with project amounts totaling over $3 billion. The 98 projects 
were reported in PARIS as receiving total tax exemptions of 
$29,489,317 in 2020, including: $27,289,828 in real property 
tax exemptions; $2,149,996 in sales tax exemptions; and 
$49,493 in mortgage recording tax exemptions. Of the 98 
projects, 49 of the projects reportedly made PILOT payments 
in 2020 that totaled $7,158,252. Further, 30 projects are 
expected to create 223.5 full-time equivalent (FTEs) jobs. The 
remaining 68 projects were reported as not expecting to 
create any FTEs.  
 

Results:  Of the 98 active projects reported that involved the installation 
of solar and wind energy systems, we reviewed 11 active 
projects (10 solar and 1 wind) to identify the financial 
assistance being provided to and the benefits received from 
these types of projects. The 10 solar projects reviewed were 
to build solar farms on vacant or unused land ranging in size 
from 9.2 to 110 acres, with project costs ranging from $3 
million to $27 million. The anticipated electricity generated 
from these solar facilities ranges between 1.625 and 16 
megawatts (MW) in capacity annually. The wind project 
reviewed was to build a wind farm on approximately 6,100 
acres of leased land with project costs of $156 million. The 
project was anticipated to generate 77.7 MW in capacity 
annually.  

 
Our review found some IDAs are not ensuring project 
applications include FTEs for projects requesting financial 
assistance. Therefore, we were unable to identify the total 
number of FTEs expected to be created for permanent and 
construction jobs for eight projects. Based on the limited job 
information included in the project applications, we found the 
employment impact for solar projects is mostly construction 
jobs since few permanent jobs are needed once solar farms 
are constructed. Seven of the 10 solar projects did not state 
creating new permanent jobs in their project applications.  
 
Despite minimal job creation, these projects indicate providing 
other long-lasting benefits, such as achieving the State’s 
renewable energy goal and providing residents and local 
businesses with discounts on electric bills. In addition, the 
clean energy generated from these projects reduces carbon 
dioxide pollution while providing an alternative renewable 
source for electricity to communities.  

 



 

  
   ES-3 

We also found IDAs are not ensuring project applications and 
project agreements identify the type and amount of financial 
assistance for each tax exemption being requested and 
provided, as required by GML 859-a. Therefore, we were 
unable to determine the total amount of financial assistance 
provided to 10 of the 11 projects. Not ensuring project 
applications and project agreements include all of the required 
information indicates a lack of board oversight and a lack of 
transparency of the project to the public.  

 
IDAs are not statutorily bound to a 15-year term for PILOTs, 
nor are they required to adhere to the RPTL 487 opt-outs for 
solar and wind projects. As such, we found IDAs are providing 
real property tax exemptions and negotiating PILOTs for solar 
and wind projects for terms that exceed 15 years and in taxing 
jurisdictions that have opted out of RPTL 487. Eight of the 
projects reviewed were provided real property tax exemption 
and PILOT terms between 20 and 30 years. In addition, five 
projects were located in municipalities that had taxing 
jurisdictions that opted out of RPTL 487.  

 
In July 2020, the ABO issued a report that included 
recommendations for all IDAs to improve the transparency of 
project documents. We found none of the 11 IDAs had all the 
required project documents posted to their websites, and only 
one IDA had its project agreement posted on its website. The 
continued lack of adequate disclosure and transparency of 
IDA project documents is indicative of inadequate board 
oversight and the potential failure of board members to uphold 
their fiduciary duty.  
 
This report includes recommendations to all IDAs to improve 
board oversight and ensure compliance with accountability 
and transparency requirements.



 

  
    1 

Introduction and Background  
 
 
Industrial Development Agencies (IDAs) are authorized by Article 18-A of General 
Municipal Law (GML) to promote and assist in the acquiring, constructing, 
reconstructing, improving, maintaining, equipping, and furnishing of industrial, 
manufacturing, warehousing and commercial facilities, and certain other types of 
projects. The purpose of IDAs is to minimize unemployment and economic 
deterioration. There are currently 108 IDAs.  
 
IDAs offer financial assistance to encourage economic growth and expansion in 
order to promote job opportunities and the general welfare of the residents of the 
State of New York. Financial assistance may consist of the issuance of bonds to 
finance the costs of a project as well as exemptions from sales and use tax (sales 
tax), mortgage recording tax and real property tax. Sales tax exemptions are 
provided for the purchase of taxable equipment or construction materials. 
Mortgage recording tax exemptions are generally a one-time exemption provided 
to a business obtaining a mortgage to finance or refinance project costs. Real 
property tax exemptions are provided over a period of time and vary depending 
on each IDA’s Uniform Tax Exemption Policy (UTEP). A portion of the real property 
tax exemption is often recaptured in the form of payments in lieu of taxes (PILOTs) 
made by the assisted business to the impacted taxing jurisdictions. 
 
IDAs are required to annually report information on all projects approved 
for financial assistance through the Public Authorities Reporting Information 
System (PARIS). PARIS requires detailed information on all IDA projects active 
during the reporting period. This includes information on permanent jobs and 
construction jobs, the type and value of all tax exemptions received annually by 
the project, and the annual PILOT payments due from and actually paid by the 
project. As of August 26, 2021, 95 of the 108 IDAs reported a total of 3,289 active 
projects for the 2020 reporting period. The total project costs reported for these 
projects were $67.3 billion. 
 
IDAs are also required under ABO Regulation 19 NYCRR 250.1 to post the project 
application, cost-benefit analysis, approving resolution, and completed uniform 
project agreement, including PILOT terms, for all active projects on their websites 
for public access.   
 
Clean Energy Projects 
 

New York State has established a goal of generating 70 percent of the State’s 
electricity from renewable sources by 20301. To accomplish this goal, New York 
State has real property tax incentives to encourage the development of solar and 
wind farms. Section 487 of Real Property Tax Law (RPTL 487) provides real 
property tax exemptions on the increase in property value due to the installation of 
solar and wind energy systems for a maximum of 15 years. In addition, the affected 
taxing jurisdictions (counties, cities, towns, villages, school districts) may require a 

 
1 Section 66-p (2)(a) of Public Service Law  



 

  
    2 

PILOT agreement for the 15 years in an amount not to exceed the amounts which 
would have been payable without the exemption to offset the loss of tax revenues. 
Local taxing jurisdictions also have the option of adopting a local law or resolution 
to opt out of providing real property tax exemptions for renewable energy systems. 
IDAs also have the ability to provide real property tax exemptions and negotiate 
PILOTs for solar and wind projects. However, IDAs are not bound by the 15-year 
term.  
 
For the 2020 reporting period, 28 IDAs reported 98 projects in PARIS that involved 
the creation of solar or wind energy with project amounts totaling $3 billion. The 98 
projects were reported as receiving total tax exemptions of $29,489,317, including: 
$27,289,828 (92.54 percent) in real property tax exemptions; $2,149,996 (7.29 
percent) in sales tax exemptions; and $49,493 (0.17 percent) in mortgage 
recording tax exemptions. Of the 98 projects, 49 projects made PILOT payments 
in 2020 totaling $7,158,252 and the other 49 projects were reported as not making 
any PILOT payments for that year. In addition, 30 of the 98 projects were expected 
to create 223.5 full-time equivalent (FTEs) jobs. The remaining 68 projects were 
reported as not expecting to create any permanent jobs but reported 312.5 FTEs 
for construction jobs in 2020.  
 

Purpose  
  
The ABO is authorized by Title 2 of the Public Authorities Law to review and 
analyze the operations, practices, and reports of public authorities, to assess 
compliance with various provisions of Public Authorities Law and other relevant 
State statutes, and to make recommendations concerning the reformation and 
structure of public authorities. The purpose of this review was to identify the type 
and amount of financial assistance provided by IDAs to clean energy projects 
throughout the state, and the respective project benefits. The review also assessed 
the transparency of IDAs in making project documents available to the public on 
IDA websites. 
  
Scope and Methodology  
  
Our review was conducted between August and November 2021 and focused on 
solar and wind energy projects reported as active in PARIS for the 2020 reporting 
period. Of the 3,289 active projects reported in the 2020 reporting period, we 
identified all projects that included clean energy, wind, or solar in the project name 
or purpose. We then reviewed the projects individually to identify wind and solar 
energy related projects. We identified 98 projects reported by 28 different IDAs 
with the purpose of creating solar or wind energy. Of the 98 solar and wind energy 
projects reported, we selected 11 projects from 11 different IDAs, of which 10 were 
solar energy projects and one was a wind energy project.  
 
The names of the 11 sample projects and their respective IDA are listed in the 
table below, in addition to whether the project was for solar or wind. Each of the 
11 IDAs selected are county IDAs and for the purpose of this report they are 
included throughout this report as their county name only. In addition, project 



 

  
    3 

names are included throughout this report based on the project name reported by 
each IDA in PARIS for 2020.  
 

County IDA  Project  Solar or Wind 

Cattaraugus      Homeridae Inc. Solar 

Chenango  Norwich-Chenango Solar, LLC. Solar 

Clinton  Delaware River Solar - Mooers IV Solar 

Cortland  Lapeer Cortland Solar Solar 

Herkimer  Little Falls Solar, LLC Solar 

Lewis  US Light Denmark Solar Solar 

Oswego  Howland Solar Solar 

Steuben  Bright Hill Solar, LLC Solar 

Tioga  Spencer-Tioga Solar LLC Solar 

Wayne  Leenhouts Solar Farm 1, LLC. Solar 

Franklin  Jericho Rise Wind Farm LLC Wind   

 
We reviewed the website for each IDA to obtain the project application, cost-benefit 
analysis, approving resolution, uniform project agreement, and PILOT agreement 
for each project. If those documents were not posted on the IDA’s website, we 
contacted the IDA to obtain the project documents. We also contacted 
IDA officials to discuss the details of individual projects as needed. A project 
summary for each of the 11 projects was provided to each IDA for review of 
accuracy. We received a response from each IDA and incorporated their 
comments into this report where appropriate. 

  



 

  
    4 

 
Review Results 
 
Project Purpose  
 

We found the purpose of the 10 solar projects reviewed is to build solar farms on 
vacant or unused land ranging in size from 9.2 and 110 acres. The anticipated 
electricity generated from these solar facilities ranges between 1.625 and 16 
megawatts (MW) in capacity annually. The capacity refers to the maximum output 
of electricity that a generator can produce under ideal conditions.2 
 
Solar projects require the project owners to buy and install photovoltaic modules, 
inverters, transformers, ground racking support systems, meteorological 
monitoring, metering equipment, and all ancillary wires, poles, and fences to 
support the photovoltaic facility. The estimated total project costs for these projects 
range from $3.2 million to $27.2 million.  
 

Solar Project Details and Project Costs 

County IDA Project Capacity Acreage Project Cost 

Cortland Lapeer Cortland Solar 15 MW 86 $27,185,245 

Tioga  Spencer-Tioga Solar LLC 16 MW 110 $26,945,080 

Chenango Norwich-Chenango Solar, LLC. 12 MW 75 $21,948,534 

Lewis  US Light Denmark Solar 5 MW 28 $7,270,000 

Steuben  Bright Hill Solar, LLC 5 MW 24.9 $6,438,930 

Cattaraugus Homeridae Inc. 3.2 MW 17 $6,000,000 

Clinton  Delaware River Solar - Mooers IV 2 MW 16.399* $4,121,707 

Herkimer  Little Falls Solar, LLC 2.867 MW 15.45* $4,068,361 

Oswego  Howland Solar 2 MW 20 $3,176,400 

Wayne  Leenhouts Solar Farm 1, LLC. 1.625 MW 8.3 $3,157,750 

*All details in the chart are based on the project application with the exception of Herkimer IDA and 
Clinton IDA projects which did not clearly identify the acreage in the application but included the 
final acreage in the project agreement.  

 
The purpose of the wind project is to build a wind-producing energy facility on 
approximately 6,100 acres of leased land from 72 participating landowners. The 
project is expected to generate up to 77.7 MW of electrical capacity annually. The 
project includes the installation of 37 wind turbines, roads, collections lines, and a 
substation used to collect the wind energy produced. The total project cost is $156 
million. 
 
Project Benefits 
 
Applicants looking to obtain IDA financial assistance are required to complete a 
standard application which is to include the projected number of full-time 
equivalent jobs (FTEs) that would be retained or created if the financial assistance 
is granted and the projected timeframe for the creation of new jobs.3 As part of the 

 
2 Office of Energy Efficiency & Renewable Energy 
3 General Municipal Law Section 859-a (4) (7)  



 

  
    5 

IDA approval process, IDA boards review and assess the benefits a project will 
offer the community. A major component of the benefits is the new jobs a project 
will bring during the construction phase and how many new permanent jobs the 
project will create after construction is complete.  
 
We found IDAs are not consistently ensuring project applications include FTEs for 
projects requesting financial assistance. Only three project applications state the 
number of FTEs to be created for construction and permanent jobs, if any. The 
other eight projects do not include FTEs but instead state a general number of jobs 
to be created in their project application. Without using FTEs, it is unclear what the 
jobs listed in applications represent. 
 
Project documents indicate that construction jobs are a major benefit of clean 
energy projects. However, once clean energy facilities are constructed there are 
few permanent jobs needed to maintain the facilities. All 10 solar projects stated 
creating construction jobs in their applications. Seven solar projects did not state 
creating any new permanent jobs. For one project the jobs to be created in the 
application is unclear. The other two solar projects (Oswego and Wayne) state 
creating two to three part-time jobs and less than one FTE, respectively. The wind 
project states creating 200-300 construction jobs and 10 permanent jobs for long-
term operations and maintenance of the facility. 
 

Job Creation Information from Applications 

FTEs in Application 

County IDA  Project  

 Construction 
Jobs to be 

Created 
Permanent Jobs 

to be Created 

Wayne  Leenhouts Solar Farm 1, LLC. 4 FTEs Less than 1 FTE 

Herkimer Little Falls Solar, LLC 45 FTEs None 

Steuben  Bright Hill Solar, LLC 50 FTEs None 

    

Jobs in Application 

County IDA Project 

Construction 
Jobs to be 

Created 

Permanent Jobs 
to be Created 

Oswego  Howland Solar 23 jobs 2-3 part-time jobs 

Clinton  Delaware River Solar - Mooers IV 24-34 jobs None 

Lewis  US Light Denmark Solar 35 jobs Jobs unclear 

Cattaraugus Homeridae Inc. 40 jobs None 

Cortland Lapeer Cortland Solar 65 jobs None 

Chenango Norwich-Chenango Solar, LLC. 80 jobs None 

Tioga  Spencer-Tioga Solar LLC 80 jobs None 

Franklin  Jericho Rise Wind Farm LLC 200-300 jobs 10 jobs 

 
Despite a minimal creation of jobs, we found solar projects indicate offering other 
benefits to the communities and the school districts they serve. For example, 
project documents indicate solar projects reduce carbon dioxide pollution and aid 
in the encouragement of renewable energy to achieve New York State’s 2030 
clean energy goal. Another benefit indicated is reduced operating costs for local 



 

  
    6 

governments by partnering with solar projects. For example, the Homeridae Inc. 
solar project, approved by the Cattaraugus IDA, is to provide the City of Olean with 
a decrease in operating costs from the renewable electricity generated. According 
to the application, the cost savings to the City of Olean is expected to be $125,000 
annually. The land used for this project was also a designated NYS Brownfield 
Cleanup Program property which encourages private sector cleanup and 
redevelopment of sites as an alternate to greenfield development. Brownfields are 
parcels of real property where contamination is present at levels that exceed the 
NYS Department of Environmental Conservation’s standards. 
 
In addition, residents and local businesses benefit from discounts on electric bills 
through energy credits they receive based on the electricity generated by the solar 
and wind farms. For example, the electricity generated by the Delaware River Solar 
- Mooers IV project, approved by the Clinton IDA, is to be sold to local residents 
and businesses in the Town of Mooers in a Community Solar Program while 
providing a cost-effective renewable source of electricity.  
 
Solar projects also make PILOT payments to the local taxing jurisdictions 
(counties, towns, villages, school districts) for an agreed upon number of years to 
offset the loss of revenue from the real property tax exemptions provided.  
 
Project Financial Assistance  
 
IDA financial assistance includes exemptions from sales and use tax, mortgage 

recording tax, and real property tax. Our objective was to identify the types and 

amounts of financial assistance provided by the 11 IDAs to the clean energy 

projects. Section 859-a (6) of General Municipal Law (GML) requires IDAs to 

develop a uniform agency project agreement that outlines the terms and conditions 

under which financial assistance will be provided, the amount and type of financial 

assistance and the date and estimated amount of payments in lieu of taxes 

(PILOTs), if applicable. Further, it requires a complete project agreement to be 

executed before any financial assistance can be provided to any project approved 

for over $100,000. 

 
While we were able to identify the type of financial assistance provided to most 
projects, we were unable to determine the total amount of financial assistance 
provided to 10 of the 11 projects. Only Wayne IDA included the value of the tax 
exemptions for each type of exemption provided in its project agreement. Franklin 
IDA and Lewis IDA did not execute project agreements. The remaining eight IDAs 
did not identify the estimated value of each type of tax exemption provided in the 
project agreement.  
 
We also found some IDAs are including the real property tax abatement (real 
property tax exemptions less PILOTs) in their project agreements, rather than 
identifying the total real property tax exemptions to be provided to a project. 
Providing an abatement amount is not consistent with the requirements of Section 
859-a of GML, and it reduces the transparency of the project agreement. 
 



 

  
    7 

The table below indicates whether the financial assistance amounts provided for 
sale tax exemptions (STE), mortgage recording tax exemptions (MRTE), and real 
property tax exemptions (RPTE) are included in each project agreement. 
 

Financial Assistance Amounts Included in Project Agreements by Exemption Type 

County IDA Project STE MRTE RPTE 
All 

Included 

Cattaraugus  Homeridae Inc. N/A N/A No* No 

Chenango  Norwich-Chenango Solar, LLC. Yes Yes   No No 

Clinton  Delaware River Solar - Mooers IV Yes Yes No* No 

Cortland  Lapeer Cortland Solar Yes Yes No* No 

Franklin  Jericho Rise Wind Farm LLC No project agreement No 

Herkimer  Little Falls Solar, LLC Yes No No No 

Lewis  US Light Denmark Solar No project agreement No 

Oswego  Howland Solar No  N/A No* No 

Steuben  Bright Hill Solar, LLC Yes Yes   No No 

Tioga  Spencer-Tioga Solar LLC Yes Yes No* No 

Wayne  Leenhouts Solar Farm 1, LLC. Yes N/A Yes Yes 

N/A indicates exemptions were not approved to be provided in the project agreement 
*Real Property Tax Abatement amount included instead of RPTE 

 
Sales Tax Exemptions 
 
Sales tax exemptions are provided on the purchase of equipment and construction 
materials. Of the nine project agreements reviewed, we found eight projects were 
provided sales tax exemptions, but only seven projects included the amount of 
sales tax exemptions to be provided in the agreement. The sales tax exemption 
amounts included, ranged from $78,000 to $810,000.  
 
Mortgage Recording Tax Exemptions 
 
Mortgage recording tax exemptions are generally a one-time exemption provided 
to a business obtaining a mortgage to finance or refinance project costs. Of the 
nine project agreements reviewed, we found six projects were provided mortgage 
recording tax exemptions, but only five projects included the amount of mortgage 
recording tax exemption to be provided in the agreement. The mortgage recording 
tax exemption amounts included, ranged from $14,877 to $247,500. 
 
Real Property Tax Exemptions   
 
Real property tax exemptions are provided over a period of time concurrently with 
respective PILOT payments and vary depending on the IDA and the project. Of the 
nine project agreements reviewed, we found all nine projects were provided real 
property tax exemptions. Of those, only one included the amount of real property 
tax exemptions to be provided in the agreement. Three projects (Chenango, 
Herkimer, Steuben) did not include the estimated value of the real property tax 
exemptions to be provided. The remaining five projects (Cattaraugus, Clinton, 
Cortland, Oswego, Tioga) also did not include the real property tax exemption 



 

  
    8 

amount. Rather, these project agreements included the amount of real property 
tax abatement, which is the total estimated real property tax exemptions less total 
estimated PILOTs. The real property tax abatements included in the five projects 
agreements, ranged from $23,000 to $1,756,815.  
 
Providing the real property tax abatement amount is not consistent with the 
requirements of Section 859-a of GML which requires IDAs to provide the value of 
the real property tax exemptions. In response to this review, some IDAs indicated 
that it was difficult to determine the assessed value of the solar project to determine 
the value of the real property tax exemptions. Starting in 2022, Section 575-b of 
Real Property Tax Law requires solar and wind projects to be assessed using an 
assessment model established by the Department of Taxation and Finance (Tax 
Department). This assessment model was made available by the Tax Department 
in October 2021 for assessors and others in need of assessment information to 
use in valuing solar and wind projects. This assessment model should reduce the 
limitations indicated by IDAs in identifying the assessed value and determining the 
real property tax exemptions to be provided to solar and wind projects moving 
forward.  
 
Payments in Lieu of Taxes (PILOTs) 
 

A portion of the real property tax exemption provided to a project is often 
recaptured in the form of PILOTs made by the assisted business to the impacted 
taxing jurisdictions. Of the 10 solar projects, eight projects included the estimated 
PILOT amounts in their respective PILOT agreement, which ranged between 
$134,889 and $3,634,900. The other two IDAs (Cattaraugus and Wayne) did not 
include the total PILOT payments in their PILOT agreements but provided a 
formula to calculate the payments. Further, the PILOT terms were also included in 
each of the PILOT agreements and ranged between 15 and 30 years. 
 
We reviewed the PILOT payment terms for each of the 10 solar projects. We found 
six projects’ PILOT payments are calculated using a fixed amount per megawatt 
(MW), ranging between $3,000 and $5,500 per MW annually. For example, the 
PILOT terms for the Bright Hill Solar, LLC project, approved by Steuben IDA, are 
$5,500 per MW annually. The project has a capacity of 5 MW. Therefore, its annual 
PILOT payments would be $27,500. These payments are also to increase two 
percent annually. 
 
The other four projects (Clinton, Herkimer, Lewis, Tioga) have PILOT terms based 
on a fixed fee schedule. For example, the Little Falls Solar, LLC PILOT, approved 
by Herkimer IDA, indicates the fixed amount (starting at $7,800) is based on the 
increase in the assessed value of the improvements to the land for the solar 
project. Delaware River Solar - Mooers IV’s PILOT, approved by Clinton IDA, is 
based on a flat $12,000 payment per year over a 20-year PILOT term. 
 
Six of the projects also include terms for an annual increase in payments of two 
percent while one project has an annual increase of five percent or the rate of the 
Consumer Price Index (CPI) for the prior year, whichever is less. One project has 
an increase of 11.99 percent every sixth year of its PILOT agreement. These 



 

  
    9 

increases are indicated to account for inflation. The other two projects do not 
include annual increases.  
 

PILOT Agreement Information for Solar Projects 

County IDA Project Capacity 

PILOT 
Term 

(Years) 
Payment 

Type Payment Terms 
Total PILOT 

Amounts 

Steuben  
Bright Hill Solar, 
LLC 5 MW 20 Per MW 

$5,500 per MW and 
increasing 2% 

annually $688,178 

Wayne  
Leenhouts Solar 
Farm 1, LLC. 1.625 MW 15 Per MW 

$5,500 per MW and 
increasing 2% 

annually 
Total Not 
Included 

Cattaraugus Homeridae Inc. 3.2 MW 15 Per MW 

$5,000 per MW and 
increasing annually, 

the lesser of 5% 
inflation or rate of 

the CPI*  
Total Not 
Included 

Chenango 

Norwich-
Chenango Solar, 
LLC. 12 MW 30 Per MW 

$4,500 per MW and 
increasing 11.99% 

every sixth year $2,190,600** 

Cortland 
Lapeer Cortland 
Solar 15 MW 30 Per MW $3,000 per MW $1,350,000 

Oswego  Howland Solar 2 MW 20 Per MW 

$3,000 per MW and 
increasing 2% 

annually $154,700 

Clinton  

Delaware River 
Solar - Mooers 
IV 2 MW 20 

Fixed 
Schedule 

Fixed payment 
schedule of $12,000 

annually $240,000 

Tioga  
Spencer-Tioga 
Solar LLC 16 MW 30 

Fixed 
Schedule 

Fixed payment 
schedule starting at 

$89,600 and 
increasing 2% 

annually $3,634,900 

Lewis  
US Light 
Denmark Solar 5 MW 25 

Fixed 
Schedule 

Fixed payment 
schedule starting at 

$25,000 and 
increasing 2% 

annually $800,757 

Herkimer  
Little Falls Solar, 
LLC 2.867 MW 15 

Fixed 
Schedule 

Fixed payment 
schedule starting at 

$7,800 and 
increasing 2% 

annually $134,889 

*Bureau of Labor Statistics Consumer Price Index (CPI) for the Northeast Region for the prior year. 
**PILOT Agreement amount differs from the Project Agreement PILOT amount; however, the 
difference was only $78. 

 
The Franklin IDA wind project has a 30-year PILOT term with a $4,000 PILOT 
payment per MW which increases after year six by two percent annually or 
according to CPI for the prior year, whichever is less. However, the total estimated 
PILOT payments were not included in the PILOT agreement.  
  



 

  
    10 

Section 487 of Real Property Tax Law  
 

Section 487 of Real Property Tax Law (RPTL 487) provides real property tax 
exemptions on the increase in property value due to the installation of solar and 
wind energy systems for a maximum of 15 years. In addition, under RPTL 487, the 
affected taxing jurisdictions (counties, cities, towns, villages, or school districts) 
may require the project owner to enter into a PILOT agreement for up to 15 years 
to offset the loss of tax revenues. The PILOT amount cannot exceed the amounts 
which would have been payable without the exemption. Taxing jurisdictions also 
have the option of adopting a local law or resolution to opt out of the property tax 
exemptions for renewable energy systems.  
 

IDAs are not statutorily bound to a 15-year term for PILOTs, nor are they required 
to adhere to the RPTL 487 opt-outs for solar and wind projects. As such, we found 
IDAs are providing real property tax exemptions and negotiating PILOTs for solar 
and wind projects for terms that exceed 15 years and in taxing jurisdictions that 
have opted out of RPTL 487. Eight of the 11 projects reviewed were provided real 
property tax exemptions and PILOTS for 20 to 30 years. In addition, five of those 
projects (Clinton, Franklin, Lewis, Steuben, Tioga) were located in municipalities 
where taxing jurisdictions opted out of RPTL 487 by passing a local law or 
resolution opposing real property tax exemptions for solar and wind projects. The 
other three projects (Chenango, Cortland, Oswego) were located in municipalities 
that did not opt out of RPTL 487.  
 
The three remaining projects were approved for real property tax exemptions and 
PILOTs for 15 years. Two of those projects (Cattaraugus and Herkimer) were 
located in municipalities with at least one taxing jurisdiction that opted out of RPTL 
487. The other project (Wayne) was located in a municipality that did not have any 
taxing jurisdictions that opted out of RPTL 487.  
 

PILOT Terms and Identification of RPTL 487 Opt Outs 

County IDA Project 
PILOT Term 

(Years) 

Located in Taxing 
Jurisdiction(s) Opting 

out of RPTL 487 

Chenango Norwich-Chenango Solar, LLC. 30 No 

Cortland Lapeer Cortland Solar 30 No 

Franklin Jericho Rise Wind Farm LLC 30 Yes 

Tioga  Spencer-Tioga Solar LLC 30 Yes 

Lewis  US Light Denmark Solar 25 Yes 

Clinton  Delaware River Solar - Mooers IV 20 Yes 

Oswego  Howland Solar 20 No 

Steuben  Bright Hill Solar, LLC 20 Yes 

Cattaraugus Homeridae Inc. 15 Yes 

Herkimer  Little Falls Solar, LLC 15 Yes 

Wayne  Leenhouts Solar Farm 1, LLC. 15 No 

  



 

  
    11 

Project Applications Not Including Exemption Amounts 
 
Section 859-a (4) (c) of GML requires IDAs to develop a standard application that 
includes the amount and type of financial assistance being requested, including 
the estimated value of each type of tax exemption being sought by the applicant. 
We reviewed the applications for each of the 11 projects to identify the estimated 
value of each type of tax exemption requested. We found only three project 
applications (Clinton, Cortland, Wayne) contained the estimated value for each 
type of tax exemption being requested.  The other eight project applications (73 
percent) did not include the estimated values for each type of tax exemptions being 
sought. As seen in the chart below, seven projects did not include the estimated 
value of real property tax exemptions being requested; two projects did not include 
the estimated value of the sales tax exemptions being requested; and one project 
did not include the estimated value of the mortgage recording tax exemption being 
requested. The lack of disclosure in the project application does not allow for full 
transparency of the project to the public or to the IDA board for its approval. 
 

Estimated Value of Exemptions Requested Included in Application 

County IDA  Project  STE MRTE RPTE 
All Amounts 

Included 

Cattaraugus   Homeridae Inc. N/A N/A No No 

Chenango   Norwich-Chenango Solar, LLC. Yes Yes No No 

Clinton  Delaware River Solar - Mooers IV Yes Yes Yes Yes 

Cortland   Lapeer Cortland Solar Yes Yes Yes Yes 

Franklin  Jericho Rise Wind Farm LLC Yes No Yes No 

Herkimer   Little Falls Solar, LLC Yes Yes No No 

Lewis  US Light Denmark Solar No N/A No No 

Oswego  Howland Solar Yes N/A No No 

Steuben  Bright Hill Solar, LLC Yes Yes No No 

Tioga  Spencer-Tioga Solar LLC No* N/A* No* No 

Wayne  Leenhouts Solar Farm 1, LLC. Yes N/A Yes Yes 

N/A indicates exemptions were not requested in the application by the applicant 
*Tioga IDA’s application did not include a financial assistance section to indicate the amount of 
financial assistance being requested; however, the application makes indication to the project 
requesting sales tax and real property tax exemptions. 

 
Project Agreements Not Executed or Completed 
 
Section 859-a (6) of GML requires a complete project agreement to be executed 
before any financial assistance over $100,000 can be provided to an approved 
project. However, as indicated in this review, both Franklin IDA and Lewis IDA did 
not execute project agreements for their respective projects. Lewis IDA 
acknowledged its error and has stated that is has changed its process to better 
comply with the requirements of GML.  
 
We also found 10 of the 11 IDA projects (91 percent) reviewed did not include the 
amounts for each type of exemption provided for financial assistance. This level of 
non-compliance brings question to the adequacy of board oversight of IDAs. Board 



 

  
    12 

members have a fiduciary obligation to perform their duties in good faith and with 
proper diligence and care, consistent with the IDA’s statutory duties and the laws 
of New York State.  
 
Project Documents Not Posted on IDA Websites 
 
ABO Regulation 19 NYCRR 250.1 requires that IDAs post to their website the 
project application, cost-benefit analysis, project approving resolution, and uniform 
project agreement, including any applicable PILOT terms, for all projects approved 
by the board. We reviewed the websites of the 11 IDAs to determine if the required 
project documents from our sample were posted to the respective websites. We 
found none of the IDAs had all the required project documents posted to their 
websites. Two IDAs had no project documents posted to their website 
(Cattaraugus and Oswego). In addition, we were unable to locate project 
documents for the Lewis IDA US Light Denmark Solar project. In response to the 
review, Lewis IDA stated the project documents are posted under the developer’s 
name, Solitude Solar. However, we only found the application and resolution 
posted. The cost-benefit analysis, approving resolution, and uniform project 
agreement for this project were not posted on Lewis IDA’s website. The remaining 
nine IDAs had some project documents posted. Further, of the 11 projects 
reviewed, only one (Cortland) had its project agreement posted on its website. In 
addition, only five IDAs (Clinton, Cortland, Herkimer, Steuben, and Wayne) had 
their project resolutions posted on their websites. The failure to post these 
documents conspicuously on the IDAs’ websites inhibits the public’s ability to 
access and understand the actual costs of these projects. 
 

*Project documents not found under the PARIS Project Name but found under the project 
developer’s name (Solitude Solar). 
  

Project Information Posted on IDA Websites 

County IDA  Project  Application 
Cost-Benefit 

Analysis Resolution 
Project 

Agreement 
PILOT 

Agreement 

Cattaraugus  Homeridae Inc. No No No No No 

Chenango  Norwich-Chenango Solar, LLC. No No No No Yes 

Clinton  Delaware River Solar - Mooers IV Yes Yes  Yes No No 

Cortland Lapeer Cortland Solar No No Yes Yes Yes 

Franklin  Jericho Rise Wind Farm LLC No No No No No 

Herkimer Little Falls Solar, LLC Yes Yes Yes No Yes 

Lewis  US Light Denmark Solar No* No No* No No 

Oswego  Howland Solar No No No No No 

Steuben  Bright Hill Solar, LLC Yes Yes Yes No No 

Tioga  Spencer-Tioga Solar LLC Yes Yes No No Yes 

Wayne  Leenhouts Solar Farm 1, LLC. Yes Yes Yes No Yes 



 

  
    13 

  

Conclusions and Recommendations 
 
The review found Industrial Development Agencies (IDAs) are generally providing 
clean energy projects with sales and use tax, mortgage recording tax, and real 
property tax exemptions. However, we were unable to identify the total value of the 
financial assistance provided to 10 of the projects reviewed because IDA project 
agreements were not executed or did not include the amount for each type of tax 
exemption provided. Without the amount of financial assistance provided in project 
agreements the public is not able to clearly identify the costs of clean energy 
projects being approved by IDAs.  
 
We also found clean energy projects do not generate permanent jobs, as few jobs 
are needed to maintain the project facilities. However, clean energy projects 
consistently create construction jobs and offer other benefits to the communities 
they are located in, such as aiding in the encouragement of renewable energy to 
achieve New York State’s 2030 clean energy goal. In reviewing job information in 
project applications, we found IDAs are not consistently ensuring project 
applicant’s requesting financial assistance include the employment impact of the 
project as full-time equivalent jobs (FTEs), as required by Section 859-a (4) of 
General Municipal Law (GML). 
 
Of more concern, we found none of the IDAs had all the required project 
documents posted to their websites. In July 2020, the ABO issued a review of IDA 
2018 New Projects that included recommendations for all IDAs to improve the 
transparency of project documents by including amounts in project documents and 
posting project documents on IDA websites. The continued lack of adequate 
disclosure and transparency of IDA project documents is indicative of inadequate 
board oversight and the potential failure of board members to uphold their fiduciary 
duty to be knowledgeable of the IDA’s statutory duties. As such, the ABO makes 
the following recommendations for all IDAs in the State to improve board oversight 
and ensure compliance with accountability and transparency requirements: 
 

1. IDAs should ensure that each project application separately and distinctly 
includes the estimated amount and type of financial assistance being 
requested and the projected number of full-time equivalent jobs that would 
be retained or created if the financial assistance is granted, in accordance 
with Section 859-a (4) (c) of GML.  
 

2. IDAs should not provide financial assistance over $100,000 to any project 
without executing a complete project agreement that includes the estimated 
amount and type of financial assistance to be provided and any PILOT 
terms, if applicable, in accordance with Section 859-a (6) of GML. 

 
3. IDAs should ensure that the project application, cost-benefit analysis, board 

resolution, and the uniform project agreement (including PILOT terms) for 
each active project is conspicuously posted on the IDA’s websites, in 
accordance with ABO Regulation 19 NYCRR 250.1. 

  



 

  
    A-1 

Appendix A – Project Summaries 
 
Solar Projects 
 
Cattaraugus IDA - Homeridae Inc. (Project Code – 401-1706A) 
Project Approved: September 19, 2017 
Project Term: 15 Years 

 

The project is to build a 3.2-megawatt (MW) solar farm on approximately 17 acres 
of leased vacant land, designated as a NYS Brownfield Cleanup Program property 
in the City of Olean. The estimated total project cost in the application is $6 million. 
The renewable electricity produced at this facility will be sold to the City of Olean 
under a 25-year contract. The application indicates the project is requesting an 
undisclosed amount of real property tax exemptions. It does not indicate 
permanent jobs to be created, but states independent contractors will be hired for 
management, electrical and landscaping. The project is expected to create 40 
construction jobs. 
 
The IDA did not complete a cost-benefit analysis for this project identifying the 
estimated value of any tax exemptions to be provided to the project and any 
additional sources of revenue for municipalities and school districts, as required by 
Section 859-a (5)(b) of General Municipal Law.  

The IDA board resolution approves the project for sales tax exemptions, mortgage 
recording tax exemptions and real property tax exemptions. However, the 
resolution does not include the amounts for these exemptions. The resolution 
indicates that the project is a deviation from the IDA’s Uniform Tax Exemption 
Policy (UTEP).  

The Uniform Project Benefits Agreement provides the project with $285,000 in real 
property tax abatements. The agreement indicates the real property tax abatement 
is the difference between the payment in lieu of taxes (PILOTs) and the amount of 
taxes that would be paid by the project if the project was not in the control of the 
IDA. The project agreement does not include the total estimated real property tax 
exemptions.  
 
The original PILOT Agreement includes a payment of $5,000 per MW for 15 years, 
adjusted annually for inflation based on the lesser of 5 percent or the prior year’s 
Consumer Price Index for the Northeast region. The total estimated PILOT 
payments are not included in the agreement. The First Amended PILOT 
Agreement changed the start of the PILOT payments to January 1, 2020, instead 
of January 1, 2019, due to the completion of the project being delayed. 
          

Transparency 
 
The IDA website was reviewed on September 8, 2021, and none of the selected 
project’s documents were posted (project application, cost-benefit analysis, 
approving resolution, project agreement, and PILOT agreement).  



 

  
    A-2 

Chenango IDA – Norwich-Chenango Solar, LLC. (Project Code 2018-1) 
Project Approved: April 25, 2018 
Project Term: 30 Years 

The project is to install a 12 megawatt (MW) solar array on approximately 75 acres 
of leased vacant farmland in the Town of Norwich. The estimated total project cost 
in the application is $21,948,534. The project will provide residents with a clean, 
cost-effective source of electricity, and energy savings will be provided through bill 
credits for participating residents on their utility bills. The application indicates the 
project is requesting $460,149 in sales tax exemptions, $164,614 in mortgage 
recording tax exemptions, and an unknown amount of real property tax 
exemptions. It states no jobs will be created other than 80 construction jobs to 
complete the project. 

The cost-benefit analysis (CBA) for the project shows $920,297 in sales tax 
exemptions and $164,614 in mortgage recording tax exemptions. The CBA also 
indicates the total property tax liability for the project is $2,528,162 and the project 
is expected to make payments in lieu of taxes (PILOTs) totaling $2,190,600 over 
a 30-year period. The CBA shows the total savings for the project as $337,562. 

The IDA board resolution approves the project to receive sales tax exemptions, 
mortgage recording tax exemptions and abatements of real property taxes (real 
property tax exemptions). However, amounts for these tax exemptions were not 
indicated in the resolution. The Inducement Resolution approved prior to the 
board’s final resolution, indicated the financial assistance included $460,149 in 
sales tax exemptions (not to exceed $465,000), $164,614 in mortgage recording 
tax exemption (not to exceed $165,000), and real property tax abatements with no 
amount indicated. The inducement resolution also indicated the project would 
deviate from the IDA’s Uniform Tax Exemption Policy (UTEP).   

The Project Agreement provides the project with no more than $460,149 in sales 
tax exemptions, $165,000 in mortgage recording tax exemptions and real property 
tax exemptions. However, the amount of real property tax exemptions is not 
included in the agreement. The agreement does include a PILOT schedule with 
$2,190,678 in total PILOT payments over a 30-year term.  

Transparency  

The IDA website was reviewed on September 8, 2021, and the PILOT agreement 
for the project was posted. However, the project application, cost-benefit analysis, 
approving resolution, and project agreement were not posted on the IDA’s website. 
 

  



 

  
    A-3 

Clinton IDA - Delaware River Solar - Mooers IV (Project Code 0902-19-03) 
Project Approved: March 25, 2019 
Project Term: 20 Years 

The project is to install a 2-megawatt (MW) solar farm on 16.399-acre of a 207.7-
acre leased vacant land located in the Town of Mooers. The estimated total project 
cost in the application is $4,121,707. The project will provide customers with a 
cost-effective source of reliable, renewable solar electricity and offer local 
residents and businesses to participate in a Community Solar Program and be the 
direct beneficiaries of reduced electricity rates. The application indicates the 
project is requesting $78,000 in sales tax exemptions, $14,877 in mortgage 
recording tax exemptions, and $56,560 in real property tax exemptions annually, 
but it does not indicate for how long. The project is not intended to create 
permanent jobs other than 24-34 construction jobs.  

The cost-benefit analysis for the project shows $78,000 in sales tax exemptions, 
$14,877 in mortgage recording tax exemptions, and $56,560 in real property tax 
exemptions annually.  The PILOT schedule and term for this project is not included. 

The IDA board resolution approves the project to receive sales tax exemptions, 

mortgage recording tax exemptions, and real property tax exemptions. However, 

the resolution does not include the amounts for these exemptions. The board also 

approved a deviation resolution allowing the project to make payment in lieu of 

taxes (PILOTs) for less than required in the IDA’s Uniform Tax Exemption Policy 

(UTEP). The deviation resolution and its attachments state the project is approved 

to receive $78,000 for sales tax exemptions, $14,877 in mortgage recording tax 

exemptions, and $348,440 in real property tax exemptions. In addition, total PILOT 

payments are stated to be $19,200 per year for 20 years, for a total of $384,000.  

The Uniform Project Benefits Agreement provides the project with $78,000 for 
sales tax exemptions, $14,877 in mortgage recording tax exemptions and 
$348,440 in real property tax abatement. The real property tax abatement is stated 
to be the difference between PILOT payments and the amount of taxes that would 
have been paid by the project if the property was privately owned. The PILOT 
Agreement payments of $12,000 annually during the 20-year PILOT term, for a 
total of $240,000. We were unable to determine the estimated total tax exemptions 
for the project since the total real property tax exemptions to be provided are not 
included in the project documents approved by the board. 
          

Transparency 
 
The IDA website was reviewed on September 9, 2021, and the project application, 
cost-benefit analysis, and approving resolution for the project were posted. 
However, the uniform project agreement and PILOT agreement were not posted 
on the IDA’s website.  

  



 

  
    A-4 

Cortland IDA – Lapeer Cortland Solar (Project Code 1101-19-1) 
Project Approved: July 8, 2019 
Project Term: 30 Years 

 

The project is to install a 15-megawatt (MW) solar farm on an 86-acre parcel of 
leased land located in the Town of Lapeer. The estimated total project cost in the 
application is $27,185,245. The electricity produced by the project will be sold 
under the NYS Community Distributed Generation Program. The application 
indicates the project is requesting $810,000 in sales tax exemptions, $247,500 in 
mortgage recording tax exemptions, and $203,039 in real property tax exemptions. 
It states no jobs to be created other than approximately 65 construction jobs to 
complete the project. 

The cost-benefit analysis (CBA) for the project shows $810,000 in sales tax 
exemptions, $247,500 in mortgage recording tax exemptions, and $3,106,815 in 
real property tax exemptions on the property improvements for 30 years. This 
totals $4,164,315 in estimated tax exemptions. It states the real property tax 
exemptions are to be offset by fixed payments in lieu of taxes (PILOTs) of $45,000 
per year, or $1,350,000 over the 30 years. In addition, the CBA indicates new 
revenue of $243,824 for a fire district tax on the project improvements for a total 
estimated value of new revenue of $1,593,824. In total, the CBA indicates a net 
incentive of $2,570,491 to the project over 30 years. The CBA also details other 
benefits of the project including $2.59 million in upgrades to the existing New York 
State Electric and Gas distribution infrastructure in the Towns of Lapeer and 
Marathon. The project is also indicated to avoid an estimated $20 million in carbon 
costs over the 30-year period.  

The IDA board resolution approves the project to receive sales tax exemptions, 
mortgage recording tax exemptions and real property tax exemptions. However, 
amounts for these tax exemptions were not indicated in the resolution. A PILOT is 
indicated in the resolution, but no amount or term is indicated.  

The Uniform Project and Lease Agreement provides the project with $810,000 in 
sales tax exemptions, $247,500 in mortgage recording tax exemptions and 
$1,756,815 in real property tax exemptions. However, we found that the real 
property tax exemptions listed in the agreement is actually the real property tax 
abatement (real property tax exemptions less PILOTs). The $1,756,815 in real 
property tax exemptions represents the difference between the $3,106,815 in real 
property tax exemptions and the $1,350,000 total PILOT outlined in the CBA. The 
PILOT Agreement also states the total estimated PILOT payments are $1.35 
million for a 30-year term.   
      

Transparency 
 
The IDA website was reviewed on September 10, 2021, and the approving 
resolution, project agreement and PILOT agreement for the project were posted. 
However, the project application and cost-benefit analysis were not posted on the 
IDA’s website.    



 

  
    A-5 

Herkimer IDA – Little Falls Solar, LLC (Project Code 2101-19-05A) 
Project Approved: August 27, 2019 
Project Term: 15 Years 
 
The project is to install a 2.867-megawatt (MW) solar farm on 15.45 acres of leased 
land in the Town of Little Falls. The clean energy produced at this facility will 
provide Herkimer County residents and small businesses savings through 
discounted energy credits. The estimated total project cost in the application is 
$4,068,361. The application indicates the project is requesting $84,222 in sales 
tax exemptions, $20,342 in mortgage recording tax exemptions, and an 
undisclosed amount of real property tax exemptions. It states no jobs to be created 
other than 45 full-time equivalent construction jobs to complete the project. 
 
The cost-benefit analysis (CBA) for the project shows $84,222 in sales tax 
exemptions and $20,342 in mortgage recording tax exemptions. The CBA also 
indicates real property tax exemptions are to be provided to the project, but the 
value of the exemption and the payments in lieu of taxes (PILOTs) are not included. 
A 15-year lease on the land is indicated.  
 
The IDA board resolution approves the project to receive $84,222 in sales tax 
exemptions (not to exceed $85,000) and $20,342 in mortgage recording tax 
exemptions. The board also approved real property tax exemptions; however, the 
amount is not included in the resolution and states the real property tax abatement 
was undetermined when the board approved the project. A PILOT is indicated in 
the resolution, but no amount or term is indicated.   
 
The Project Completion and Recapture Agreement provides the project with sales 
tax exemptions of no more than $85,000, mortgage recording tax exemptions and 
real property tax exemptions. However, the amounts for mortgage recording tax 
exemptions and real property tax exemptions were not indicated in the agreement.  
 
The PILOT Agreement requires the project owner to pay the base taxes that would 
be due if the IDA was not involved, as well as an annual fixed payment schedule 
for the improvements to the property. The PILOT starts at year one at $7,800 and 
increases to $10,292 in year 15, totaling $134,889 over the 15-year PILOT term.  
 
We were unable to determine the estimated total tax exemptions for the project 
since the total real property tax exemptions were not included in any of the project 
documents approved by the board.  
 
Transparency 
 
The IDA website was reviewed on September 20, 2021, and the project 
application, cost-benefit analysis, approving resolution, and PILOT agreement for 
the project were posted. However, the uniform project agreement was not posted 
on the IDA’s website. 
     



 

  
    A-6 

Lewis IDA - US Light Denmark Solar (Project Code - 23011901A) 
Project Approved: June 6, 2019 
Project Term:  25 Years 
 
The project is to install a 5-megawatt (MW) community solar farm on 28 acres of a 
72-acre leased agricultural land located in the Town of New Denmark. The 
estimated total project cost in the application is $7.27 million. The project will 
provide electrical cost savings to local residents, businesses, municipalities, and 
other agencies. The application does not include the amounts of financial 
assistance being requested but indicates the project is requesting sales tax and 
real property tax exemptions. Also, the application is unclear on the jobs to be 
created. It indicates one existing job and 48 new jobs, which may include 35 
construction jobs, and it also indicates 2-4 jobs to be created. 
 
The cost-benefit analysis (CBA) for the project shows $46,000 in sales tax 
exemptions and $3,331,755 in real property tax exemptions, totaling $3,377,755 
in tax exemptions. The CBA indicates the project is to pay $5,000 per MW annually, 
increasing two percent each year. The CBA shows a net benefit of $2,752,755 
based on the total tax exemptions and PILOTs totaling $625,000. However, the 
PILOT total does not include the two percent increase annually.    
 
The IDA board resolution (June 6, 2019) for this project states the financial 
assistance for the project is to include sales tax exemptions, mortgage recording 
tax exemptions and real property tax exemptions. However, the resolution only 
approves sales tax exemptions up to $99,999 and authorizes a public hearing for 
any exemptions to the project beyond $100,000. The IDA did not provide another 
resolution approving the project for additional exemptions above the $99,999. IDA 
staff indicated that this project was the IDA’s first solar project and that it has since 
changed its procedures for providing financial assistance to solar projects. 
 
The IDA did not execute a uniform project agreement for this project that describes 
the project and financial assistance, including the amount and type, to be provided, 
and the purpose to be achieved, as required by Section 859-a (6) of General 
Municipal Law. The PILOT Agreement for the project includes a 25-year PILOT 
schedule starting at $25,000 in the first year and increasing two percent each year 
thereafter, for a total of $800,757 in PILOT payments. We were unable to 
determine the estimated total tax exemptions for the project since the total amount 
and type of tax exemptions to be provided are not included in the project 
documents approved by the board. 
 
Transparency 
 
The IDA website was reviewed on September 23, 2021, and we were unable to 
locate project documents for the selected project (US Light Denmark Solar). We 
reached out to the IDA, and they responded that the project documents were listed 
under the developer, Solitude Solar. However, the cost-benefit analysis, approving 
resolution, and uniform project agreement were not posted on the IDA’s website.   
 



 

  
    A-7 

Oswego IDA – Howland Solar (Project Code - 35011805)  
Project Approved: August 24, 2018 
Project Term: 20 Years 

 

The project is to install a 2-megawatt (MW) community solar farm on 20 acres of 
leased vacant land in the Village of Sandy Creek. The estimated total project cost 
in the application is $3,176,400. The project indicates it will provide renewable 
energy to service 300-500 homes annually. The project application indicates the 
project is requesting $8,000 in sales and use tax exemptions and an undisclosed 
amount of real property tax exemptions. It states it will create 23 construction jobs 
and two to three part-time employees after the project is completed.  

 

The cost-benefit analysis (CBA) for the project shows $8,000 in sales tax 
exemptions and does not include the value of the real property tax exemptions to 
be provided. The CBA indicates the project is expected to make payments in lieu 
of taxes (PILOTs) totaling $146,780 for a 20-year period. The project is indicated 
to be a deviation from the IDA’s Uniform Tax Exemption Policy (UTEP). The CBA 
also indicates the project will avoid 2,400 tons of CO2 annually. 

   

The IDA board resolution approves the project to receive sales tax and real 
property tax exemptions but does not include the value of the exemptions 
approved. The board did not approve a deviation for the project. 

 

The Project Agreement provides the project with sales tax exemptions and real 
property tax exemptions, but the value of the tax exemptions is not included. The 
agreement states the real property tax abatement is $23,000 and PILOTs for 20 
years are to be $154,700. The PILOT Agreement states the total estimated PILOT 
payments are $154,700 for a 20-year term. We were unable to determine the 
estimated total tax exemptions for the project since the total amount and type of 
tax exemptions to be provided are not included in the project documents approved 
by the board. 
 
Transparency 
 
The IDA website was reviewed on September 27, 2021, and none of the selected 
project’s documents were posted (project application, cost-benefit analysis, 
approving resolution, project agreement, and PILOT agreement). 
 
 

  

  



 

  
    A-8 

Steuben IDA – Bright Hill Solar, LLC (Project Code - 4603-20-02) 
Project Approved: May 28, 2020 
Project Term: 20 Years 

 
The project is to build a 5-megawatt (MW) community solar farm on approximately 
24.9 acres of unused leased agricultural land in the Town of Dansville. The 
estimated total project cost in the application is $6,438,930. The electricity 
produced will be sold under a community solar model, where residents in New 
York State Electric & Gas’s (NYSEG) territory will be given the option to purchase 
electricity to save on their electric bills. The application also indicates an indirect 
benefit of upgrading NYSEG’s electricity infrastructure. The application indicates 
the project is requesting $317,114 in sales tax exemptions, $39,237 in mortgage 
recording tax exemptions, and an undisclosed amount of real property tax 
exemptions. It states no jobs to be created other than 50 full-time equivalent (FTE) 
construction jobs to complete the project.  

The cost-benefit analysis (CBA) for the project shows $318,000 in sales tax 
exemptions and $40,000 in mortgage recording tax exemptions, totaling $357,000 
in tax exemptions. The CBA also indicates real property tax exemptions are to be 
provided, but the value of the exemption and payments in lieu of taxes (PILOTs) 
are not included. The CBA indicates a total net benefit of $3,580,000; but it is 
unclear how this amount is determined from the details.  

The IDA board resolution approves the project to receive sales tax exemptions, 
mortgage recording tax exemptions and real property tax exemptions, but the 
amount approved in the resolution only includes the sales tax exemptions, totaling 
$317,114.  
 
The Project Agreement provides the project with sales tax exemptions, mortgage 
recording tax exemptions and real property tax exemptions. However, the sales 
tax exemption amount of $317,114 is the only exemption amount included in the 
agreement. The PILOT Agreement includes total payments of $668,178 over the 
20-year PILOT term. We were unable to determine the estimated total tax 
exemptions for the project since the total mortgage recording tax and real property 
tax exemptions were not included in the project documents approved by the board. 
       
Transparency 
 
The IDA website was reviewed on September 28, 2021, and the project 
application, cost-benefit analysis, and approving resolution for the project were 
posted. However, the uniform project agreement and PILOT agreement were not 
posted on the IDA’s website.   

  

  



 

  
    A-9 

Tioga IDA – Spencer-Tioga Solar LLC (Project Code - 4901-18-01 A) 
Project Approved: April 4, 2018 
Project Term: 30 Years 

The project is to install a 16-megawatt (MW) solar array on 110 acres of leased 
marginal quality farmland in the Town of Spencer. The estimated total project cost 
in the application is $26,945,080. The proposed project will generate clean energy 
and provide a potential savings to local electricity consumers. The application 
indicates no direct full-time jobs to be created and 80 construction jobs are 
expected to complete the project. There is no financial assistance section in the 
application to indicate the amount of financial assistance being requested; 
however, it is indicated the project is requesting sales tax and real property tax 
exemptions.  

The cost-benefit analysis (CBA) for the project shows $672,986 in sales tax 
exemptions, $215,268 in mortgage recording tax exemptions, and $4,129,118 in 
real property tax exemptions. The CBA also indicates the project is to pay $5,400 
per MW annually with a two percent increase each year for 30 years, totaling 
$3,634,900 in payments in lieu of taxes (PILOTs). The total real property tax 
abatement presented in the CBA is $494,218.  

The IDA board resolution approves the project to receive sales tax exemptions, 
mortgage recording tax exemptions and real property tax exemptions. However, 
the resolution does not include the amounts for these exemptions. The board also 
approved entering into a PILOT Agreement deviating from its Uniform Tax 
Exemption Policy (UTEP). The proposed PILOT payments are estimated to total 
$3,634,900 for a 30-year term. 

The Project Agreement provides the project with $672,986 in sales tax exemptions, 
$215,268 in mortgage tax exemption, and $494,218 in real property tax abatement 
over 30 years. The PILOT Agreement also includes $3,634,900 in PILOTs. The 
total amount of real property tax exemptions to be provided is not listed. We were 
unable to determine the estimated total tax exemptions for the project since the 
total real property tax exemptions to be provided are not included in the project 
documents approved by the board. 
 
Transparency 
 
The IDA website was reviewed on September 28, 2021, and the project 
application, cost-benefit analysis, and PILOT agreement for the project were 
posted. However, the approving resolution and uniform project agreement were 
not posted on the IDA’s website.   
 

  

  



 

  
    A-10 

Wayne IDA – Leenhouts Solar Farm 1, LLC. (Project Code - 5401-20-10A) 
Project Approved: September 18, 2020 
Project Term: 15 Years 

The project is to install a 1.625 megawatt (MW) solar farm on 8.3 acres of a 49-
acre unused leased agricultural land in the Town of Ontario. The estimated total 
project cost in the application is $3,157,750. The project owner is a home leasing 
company that plans to use the energy created for its properties and to provide bill 
credits to its customers. The application indicates the project is requesting 
$124,500 in sales tax exemptions and $66,636 in real property tax exemptions 
annually. However, the term of the exemptions is not stated to indicate the total 
real property tax exemptions being requested. The project is to create less than 
one full-time equivalent (FTE) job and four FTE construction jobs.   

The cost-benefit analysis (CBA) for the project shows $124,500 in sales tax 
exemptions and $1,642,352 in real property tax exemptions. The CBA indicates 
the project is to pay $154,560 in payments in lieu of taxes (PILOTs) over a 15-year 
term. The CBA also indicates the project will provide a host community benefit 
totaling $40,625. 

 

The IDA board resolution approves the project to receive sales tax exemptions 
totaling $124,500. The resolution also indicates a mortgage recording tax 
exemption and a real property tax exemption; however, the amounts are not 
included in the resolution.  

The Agent and Financial Assistance and Project Agreement provides the project 
with $124,500 in sales tax exemptions and $1,642,352 in real property tax 
exemptions, totaling $1,766,852. The PILOT Agreement states the project is to 
pay base taxes on the assessed value of the land plus $5,500 per MW for 15 years 
with a 2 percent increase annually. The PILOT schedule shows the per MW portion 
of the PILOT totaling $154,560. The base tax amount was not included in the 
agreement to identify the total PILOT payments.  

Transparency 
 
The IDA website was reviewed on September 28, 2021, and the project 
application, cost-benefit analysis, approving resolution, and PILOT agreement for 
the project were posted. However, the uniform project agreement was not posted 
on the IDA’s website. 
 

  

  



 

  
    A-11 

Wind Project 
 
Franklin IDA – Jericho Rise Wind Farm LLC (Project Code 2016-10-20)  
Project Approved: October 12, 2016 
Project Term: 30 Years 

 
The project is to build a 77.7-megawatt (MW) wind on approximately 6,100 acres 
of leased land from 72 participating landowners in the Towns of Bellmont and 
Chateaugay. The estimated total project cost in the application is $156 million. The 
application indicates the project is requesting $3,760,000 in sales tax exemptions, 
$200,000 in real property tax exemptions, and an undetermined amount of 
mortgage recording tax exemptions. It states the project will create 10 permanent 
jobs for long-term operations and maintenance of the facility and 200-300 
construction jobs will be created to complete the project. 
 
The cost-benefit analysis (CBA) for the project shows $3,760,000 in sales tax 
exemptions. It does not show exemptions for mortgage recording tax and real 
property tax exemptions. The CBA states the project is expected to make 
payments in lieu of taxes (PILOTs) totaling $10,106,303 over a 30-year period. 
The CBA also indicates Franklin County entities will benefit from $11.6 million 
through Host Community Agreements and $388,500 for an Economic 
Development Reserve Fund. 
 
The IDA board resolution approves the project to receive sales tax exemptions, 

mortgage recording tax exemptions and real property tax exemptions. However, 

the resolution does not include the amounts for these exemptions.  

The IDA did not execute a uniform project agreement for this project that describes 
the project and financial assistance, including the amount and type to be provided 
and the purpose to be achieved, as required by Section 859-a (6) of General 
Municipal Law. The Lease Agreement indicates the project is to receive sales tax 
exemptions, mortgage recording tax exemptions and real property tax exemptions. 
However, amounts for these tax exemptions are not included in the Lease 
Agreement.  
 
The PILOT Agreement includes a payment of $4,000 per MW for 30 years, 
adjusted annually for inflation based on the lesser of 2 percent or the prior year’s 
Consumer Price Index for the Northeast region. 
 
Transparency 
 
The IDA website was reviewed on September 10, 2021, and none of the selected 
project’s documents were posted (project application, cost-benefit analysis, 
approving resolution, project agreement, and PILOT agreement).   
  

 



RESOLUTION 2022-06
Execute Memorandum of Agreement with Lake Champlain - Lake George Regional Planning Board

WHEREAS, the Lake Champlain - Lake George Regional Planning Board (LCLGRPB) is completing a regional Economic
Analysis of Housing Needs, and

WHEREAS, CFIDA staff participate on the Working Group for this project, and

WHEREAS, CFIDA desires to provide matching funds to support the project.

THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED, the Board of Directors authorizes the CEO to execute the attached Memorandum of
Agreement with LCLGRPB and authorizes payment of $7,500 to LCLGRPB to support the project.

SECRETARY DATE

Duly Adopted by the CFIDA Board on May 18, 2022



  

MEMORANDUM OF AGREEMENT 

 

Between the Franklin County Industrial Development Agency and the 

Lake Champlain – Lake George Regional Planning Board  

 

Whereas, in 2021 the Northern Border Regional Commission established Contract Number 

NBRC21GNY07 with the Lake Champlain – Lake George Regional Planning Board (LCLGRPB) 

for the preparation of an Economic Analysis of Housing Needs (Analysis), and     

Whereas, the LCLGRPB is working on the Analysis in cooperation with the Franklin County 

Industrial Development Agency (IDA), and  

Whereas, the IDA has agreed to provide $7,500 in cash matching funds for execution of the 

work outlined in Contract Number NBRC21GNY07, and 

Whereas, the IDA representatives will also participate on the Working Group for the Analysis, 

now 

  Therefore, be it resolved that the IDA and the LCLGRPB enter into this agreement for 

completion of the Analysis, which shall become effective immediately. It may be amended at any 

time by mutual consent of both parties and may be terminated at any time following thirty (30) days 

written notice by either party. This agreement will become null and void after the acceptance of all 

project deliverables by the Northern Border Regional Commission, as outlined in Contract Number 

NBRC21GNY07. 

 

FOR THE LCLGRPB     FOR THE FRANKLIN COUNTY IDA 

 

NAME _____________________________  NAME ____________________________ 

 

 

TITLE_____________________________  TITLE ____________________________  

 

 

DATE _____________________________  DATE ____________________________  

 

 

SIGNED_____________________________  SIGNED ________________________________ 


	IDA Agenda 5-18-22
	IDA Minutes 4-20-22
	NC Chamber Memo of Opposition to S8395
	IDA Financials April
	IDA BAL APril 2022
	IDA PL APril 2022
	IDA YTD April 2022

	IDA Clean Energy Final Report
	2022-05-18 IDA Resolution 2022-06 Execute MOA with LCLGRPB



